LITERATURE REVIEW ON EARLY RETURN TO WORK

Research conducted for the National Institute of Disability Management and Research.

In support of their work on the Reducing Poverty Initiative through Disability Assistance funded by the Government of Canada and the Province of British Columbia.

May 2024 By: Corey McAuliffe, PhD, MPH

Anagement and Research[™]

Copyright© 2024 National Institute of Disability Management and Research

The views expressed in this document do not necessarily reflect those of the National Institute of Disability Management and Research, and the National Institute of Disability Management and Research does not assume responsibility for the views expressed and the information provided in this document nor in any of the references included.

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be produced, stored in a retrieval system, or transcribed, in any form or by any means – electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise – without the prior written permission of the National Institute of Disability Management and Research.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	
Disability and Work	
Equity	
Personal, Employer, Societal Costs	
EARLY RETURN TO WORK	
What is it?	
Why is it important?	
What does it do? How does it work?	
Return to Work Includes	
Predictors of Early Return to Work	
CHALLENGES	
PRACTICE & POLICY: PRACTICAL, OPERATION IMPLEMENTATION	
Practice	
Workplace Considerations	
Policy	
CONCLUSION	
REFERENCES	

LITERATURE REVIEW ON EARLY RETURN TO WORK

The research for this publication was carried out by: Corey McAuliffe, PhD

The research was conducted in support of the work being undertaken on the Reducing Poverty Initiative through the National Institute of Disability Management and Research. Funding for this research was provided by the Government of Canada and the Province of British Columbia.

INTRODUCTION

This report was prepared for the National Institute of Disability Management and Research in alignment with their work to support the Reducing Poverty through Early Intervention and Occupational Rehabilitation Initiative.

The key research question is: Why is early intervention of return to work (RTW), following the onset of a mental and/or physical health impairment critical within a RTW framework, to avoid potential long-term unemployment and subsequent impacts (i.e., poverty, addiction, etc.)?

This report offers a literature review that:

- Illustrates background context on disability and work
- Defines early RTW
- Explains why early RTW is critical, what it does, and how it works
- Describes challenges for returning to work
- Offers practical, operational implementation steps (practice and policy)
- Justifies why early RTW is important

DISABILITY AND WORK

In 2022, the Canadian Survey on Disability (CSD) identified that 27% of Canadians 15 years and older (8 million people) had one or more disabilities, a 5% increase from the 2017 survey. While the increase is partially attributable to an aging population, a large increase is also related to mental health-related disabilities for youth and working-age adults (Statistics Canada, 2023b). Much of this was exacerbated due to the COVID-19 pandemic, with 57% of Canadians identifyin rse mental health compared to pre-pandemic, with 77% reporting a lack of access to therapies/services for their condition (Statistics Canada, 2020). Within the CSD 2022 survey, 24% ofwor mg-age adults identified as having a disability, with an unemployment rate of 6.9% for persons with disabilities aged 16 to 64 compared to 3.8% of those without disabilities (Statistics Canada, 2023a, 2023b). Some factors attributed to this doubling of unemployment include "unmet workplace accommodation needs and workplace discrimination" (Statistics Canada, 2023a). Within British Columbia, in June 2019, the Government of British Columbia identified 153,286 income assistance cases, with 71 % of cases receiving disability assistance and 29% receiving temporary assistance (Government of British Columbia 2019; Petit et al., 2020).

Many workers who experience an occupational injury (e.g., accident, physical illness, mental health problem) struggle with a fragmented system (Ben-Shalom, 2016) due to a myriad of service providers and hoops they are left to individually navigate (Ben Shalom et al., 2017). And while many workers do subsequently, a significant proportion struggle to return to work remain

at work in the long term (Lecours, 2024). Indeed, international studies, aligned with Canadian statistics, recognize that while 85% of workers suffering an occupational injury (Berecki-Gisolf et al., 2012; Kulmala et al., 2019), between "11-48% experience a relapse, recurrence or worsening of their health condition" (Berecki-Gisoldf et al., 2012; Marras et al., 2007; Wasiak et al., 2003, 2004 in Lecours et al., 2024). While a new form of disability, there is more and more research being published on the experience of those with Post COVID. The condition is often aligned with those who have episodic conditions, with similar experiences of not fitting within current disability measurements or policies (Anderson et al., 2024), suffering from the similar challenges of not being 'disabled enough' (Vick, 2013). While research shows most people are able to return to work, with less than 5% permanently leaving the workforce, about 25% of those who do return to work require job changes or accommodations (Smith et al., 2023).

EQUITY

With an increasing number of workers impacted by disabilities, it is important to remember that the numbers are not consistent across demographics and other social determinants of health. In 2010, Street and Lacey published a systematic review that identified predictors of poor work outcomes following a workplace injury which included "older age, female gender, divorced marital status, two or more dependent family members, lower education level, reduced labour market desirability, and injury severity" (Gewurtz et al., 2018). In Canada, important predictive factors also included the proportion of work-related injuries for recent immigrants (Saffari et al., 2021) and a higher rate of disability among women (30%) than men (24%) (Statistics Canada, 2023b). Moreover, those with episodic or invisible disabilities face further challenges due to the dominant assumption of disability as visible and static, with workers fearing disclosure due to potential long-term consequences for employability (Anderson et al., 2024; Gignac et al. 2021).

PERSONAL, EMPLOYER, SOCIETAL COSTS

Increasing evidence further contributes to understanding the personal, organizational, and societal costs when workers with disabilities are not aptly supported to efficiently RTW. At the individual level, those with disabilities earn significantly less (almost \$7,000) compared to those without disabilities (Statistics Canada, 2023b), with the additional burden for workers exiting the workforce (due to disabilities) experiencing a drop in their standard of living and a higher likelihood of becoming socially isolated (Ben-Shalom and Schimmel Hyde, 2018; Gould-Werth et al., 2018). For these individuals, systemic and organizational factors due to inadequate supports and resources can also lead to enduring financial strain, family tensions, and subsequent health concerns (Gewurtz et al., 2018). Moreover, the employer often bears the burden of costs through lost or lower work productivity and higher premiums for workers' compensation, private disability insurance, and health insurance (Anand and Ben-Shalom, 2017; Ben-Shalom and Schimmel Hyde, 2018; Gould-Werth et al., 2018). However, evidence also supports that early RTW, and workplace-based interventions, produce financial benefits and

increased productivity for the organization, as well as increased wellbeing for employees (Franche, Cullen, et al., 2005; Horppu et al., 2016).

At a societal level, the "Canada Pension Plan paid out CAN\$4.2 billion to disabled workers and their children in the year 2014-2015" (Government of Canada, 2015 in Lippel, 2019). Within the United States, Gimm et al. (2014) identified that less than 1% of those on social security disability insurance leave within a given year (Liu and Stapleton, 2010), with heavy losses of tax revenues for federal and state governments and increased costs for disability, health care, and welfare benefits (Anand and Ben-Shalom, 2017; Ben-Shalom and Schimmel Hyde, 2018; Gould-Werth et al., 2018). However, Horppu et al. (2016) discuss how early RTW increases participation of all employees, which in turn reduces societal costs for work disability.

Indeed, a pilot program of Washington State's Centers for Occupational Health and Education – which coordinated health services for workers filing workers' compensation claims – reported lowering total medical costs by 7%, disability payment costs by 24%, and the rate of jobless workers by 21% for the intervention group compared to the comparison group (Franche et al., 2005; Gould-Werth et al., 2018; Hoefsmit et al., 2012; Wickizer et al., 2011). Overall, unsuccessful RTW has consequences for everyone.

EARLY RETURN TO WORK

WHAT IS IT?

While there is no specific set time that qualifies as early RTW, as differing conditions impact the length of recovery time needed, evidence points to a window of opportunity within the first 12 weeks after work disability occurs, in which interventions can significantly impact worker outcomes (Christian et al., 2016; Ben-Shalom and Schimmel Hyde, 2018). While there are circumstances in which an early RTW may not be advisable or even harmful (Franche, Baril, et al., 2005; Linton and Andersson, 2000), early intervention for RTW is beneficial for most employees, organizations, and society. Early RTW is an opportunity to manage both the medical condition while enhancing a worker's wellbeing, which can offer both mental and physical rehabilitation, sometimes reducing recovery time (Horppu et al., 2016; MacEachen and Ekberg, 2019). The RTW process has been identified as having four stages: work absence, re-entry, maintenance, and advancement (Young et al., 2005; Gray et al., 2018), with the importance of timing of re-entry impacting the likelihood for maintenance and advancement. This includes the need for effective targeting, as some workers have no need for an intervention while others may benefit from additional needed services and resources (Ben-Shalom and Schimmel Hyde, 2018).

WHY IS IT IMPORTANT?

Early intervention supports workers at a time when they are most likely to still be connected to their employer, with an ability to maintain that attachment (Neuhauser et al., 2018; Ben Shalom et al., 2017). It has the potential to support workers with disabilities to remain within the workforce (Bardos et al., 2015), with RTW interventions reducing the duration of work disability and associated costs according to a systematic review of Franche, Baril, et al. (2005). However, it is important to be mindful of the differences in timing that exist between health conditions needed for a safe and early RTW; yet these considerations must also be weighed against the potential harms that come with delayed early intervention (Contreary et al., 2018; Eckberg et al., 2015). For example, Franklin et al. (2018) demonstrated that the likelihood of returning to the same job, for workers within their study, increasingly declined for every month away from work. Additional studies support this finding, recognizing that the longer someone is away from work the less likely it is for them to successfully RTW (Canadian Medical Association, 2013; Horppu et al., 2016; Pransky et al., 2005). Moreover, the Royal Australasian College of Physicians (2011) state that lengthy absences from the workforce can cause harm to physical and mental health, while RTW has been shown to be therapeutic, leading to better health outcomes, and reducing the risk of poverty while fostering personal autonomy (Waddell and Burton, 2006; Gragnano et al., 2018). A benefit to accommodating and supporting workers with disabilities from leaving the workforce through an early RTW, means a reduction in the cost of absences

while improving their quality of work and the quality of life for employees (Pomaki et al., 2010), This further reduces overall costs associated with workplace mental health, as well as public costs (Doi et al., 2021; Horppu et al., 2016).

WHAT DOES IT DO? HOW DOES IT WORK?

Return to Work Includes

When returnining to work, the focus should not be solely focused on healthcare and the individual, as treatment alone has minimal impact on work outcomes. The employer also has a critical role, as proactive, intentional workplace interventions with a focus on RTW offer effective health and cost-saving measures (Waddell et al., 2008).

To best reduce duration of disability, supportive RTW interventions should offer and focus on:

- work accommodations:
 - work practice modification (e.g., advice for posture/stretching, pacing, changes in rotation, workstation reorganization),
 - graduated RTW (e.g., modified hours, duties),
- designated disability management professionals
- disability management strategies (e.g., early contact with the worker),
- accommodating and non-discriminating work environments,
- focus on reducing pain and distress,
- ergonomic worksite visits,
- psychosocial supports,
- ensure job safety and security,
- education/training provided to supervisors, workers, or case managers,
- early contact between workplace and health care provider (Bardos et al., 2015; Beemster et al. 2021; Doi et al., 2021; Feuerstein et al., 2003; Franche, Cullen, et al., 2005; Oxman and Guyatt, 1991; Scheel, Hagan, Herrin, Carling, et al., 2002; Scheel, Hagan, Herrin, Oxman, 2002; Scheel, Hagan, Oxman, 2002; Waddell et al., 2008).

As Gould-Werth et al., (2018) point out, "employers with greater access to resources and better ability to communicate generally made greater effort to accommodate and retain employees with disabilities." Another important note is that the literature tends to focus on individual preventative behaviours rather than environmental behaviours (e.g., coworkers, employers, administration), even though evidence demonstrates these strategies are not sufficient in isolation, as there is a need for a global, holistic, and complementary approach (Lecours, 2023).

Complementary approaches include the need for a range of actors (e.g., workers and their families, labour representatives, supervisors, corporate managers, healthcare provider(s), disability management, union representatives, insurers) to be involved in an early, proactive, and supportive way to increase successful RTW. While it is not necessary, nor advisable, for everyone to be involved – indeed, actors' priorities are not always aligned – it is important to take into consideration who will offer the best resources and supports that further help to eliminate barriers for a successful RTW (Cancelliere et al., 2016; Doi et al., 2021; Franche, Cullen, et al., 2005; Pomaki at al., 2010). Often, pulling together a team or hiring a return to work coordinator who is responsible for coordination and facilitating a timely and safe RTW is a helpful solution to shorten disability duration and financial repercussions (Franche, Baril, et al., 2005). Important interventions include: "face-to-face contact with a return to work coordinator, case manager traning, development of a RTW plan, communication and coordination between different stakeholders, and identification of barriers and/or facilitators to RTW" (Doi et al., 2021). Research has further shown that by offering early intervention, in tandem with a return to work coordinator there is a reduction on the dependence of federal disability benefits (Gimm et al., 2014).

Predictors of Early Return to Work

At the individual level, one of the most critical and successful interventions for RTW is early intervention (Beemster et al., 2021; Doi et al., 2021; Nuechterlein et al., 2020; Tan et al., 2016). In terms of demographic indicators, positive outcomes for early RTW were most often related to: being of younger age (age 40 or less), one's education (lower or higher, dependent on condition and place of work), being male, having a higher socioeconomic status, lower severity of the injury/illness, and being native-born (non-immigrant) (Doi et al., 2021; Eckberg et al., 2015; Gewurtz et al., 2018; Gragnano et al., 2018; Saffari et al., 2021; Senthanar et al., 2021).

Additional modifiable factors that impact a positive early RTW included:

- better work and functional ability at baseline,
- better scores in health measures,
- positive expectations of treatment,
- individual need to secure employment situation,
- higher self-efficacy,
- optimistic expectations for recovery and RTW,
- RTW coordination,
- multidisciplinary interventions that include workplace and subsequent actors,
- optimal treatment,
- job control,
- work ability,
- perceived good health (Cancelliere et al., 2016; Eckberg et al., 2015; Ervasti et al., 2017).

LITERATURE REVIEW ON EARLY RETURN TO WORK

On the other side, later RTW has been associated with:

- higher pain or disability,
- depression, anxiety, comorbidity,
- previous sick leave and unemployment,
- activity limitations,
- dissatisfaction with work conditions/workplace,
- higher physical work demands,
- job strain,
- need for workplace adjustments,
- physical and psychological job demands (Cancelliere et al., 2016; Eckberg et al., 2015; Fan et al., 2021; Gragnano et al., 2018).

Importantly, consideration of workplace conditions and relations are as important, if not more so, than the worker's health and functioning. Indeed, "a combination of clinical and workplace interventions are most effective" (Eckberg et al., 2015). Factors that predict improved accommodation and retention include publicly available programs and resources; resources held by the employer; communication processes; positive relations with the supervisor; employee tenure, work role, and work performance; type of health condition; RTW coordination, occupational training or conditioning, workplace-based interventions, work accommodations (e.g., reduce working hours, adapt work conditions), contact between various impacted actors, and organizations' disability management policies (Cancelliere et al., 2016; Eckberg et al., 2015; Gould-Werth et al., 2018).

CHALLENGES

While an early RTW is an important goal, there are many obstacles and barriers that prevent some workers from being able to successfully RTW. This includes barriers, often invisible, within RTW systems in workplaces, healthcare systems, and claims processes, that attend to policy and procedures rooted in problematic power inequalities and social conflict (MacEachen et al., 2010). According to research by Gould-Werth et al., (2018), employers are not consistently nor equitably utilizing resources across cases due to lack of familiarity with employee health conditions, as well as for those with more physically active jobs and employees who were perceived to be poor performers or have had a short tenure.

Moreover, there are often competing or divergent goals between the employee and the organization, even when goals appeared to be mutual (MacEachen et al., 2010). Many workers with disabilities who are well positioned to RTW often fall between the cracks of organizations that have adequate capacity but workplaces with discriminatory practices, unresponsive systems, or management with an inadequate desire to assist (Bardos et al., 2015; Gould-Werth et al., 2018; MacEachen et al., 2010). Furthermore, there are additional challenges for those who have returned to their place of work, such as being reassigned to a job that is mismatched with the employees' skills or interests that lead to underemployment and deskilling (Gewurtz et al., 2018).

Of additional consideration is the cost or benefits for employers. Many employers often underestimate the cost of replacing workers and are unfamiliar with inexpensive investments that can facilitate RTW, as well as generate potential benefits (Ben-Shalom, 2015). Notably, the expense to the employer can be high at times, necessitating economic incentives from policymakers, who profit from high societal benefits (including financial) for successful RTW (Bardos et al., 2015; Ben-Shalom, 2015). Of particular concern and cost burden are policies such as the British Columbia Income Assistance, which have multiple financial disincentives (i.e., decline in after-tax income for additional earning or hours worked, loss of access to supplemental benefits) for RTW once benefits have been accessed (Petit et al., 2020). Thus, from a holistic perspective, considerations for shifting incentives towards employers, so that they will retain workers with an onset of disability would likely offer high savings at a societal level (Bardos et al., 2015).

PRACTICE & POLICY: PRACTICAL, OPERATIONAL IMPLEMENTATION

PRACTICE

Interventions that support a successful RTW must be supported by leaders in a cost-effective manner (Williams-Whitt et al., 2016). There are clear and positive outcomes with structured and coordinated RTW practices, that are specific and goal oriented. For example, these practices could include guidelines that offer an "initial intake, detailed assessment, continuous check-ins during intervention, follow-up check-in, and relapse prevention" (Pomaki et al., 2010). Additional supports include clear and well-communicated organizational workplace disability and mental health policies; people-oriented organizational culture through supportive management; RTW coordination through structured, planned, close communication between all actors required to optimize RTW outcomes (Pomaki et al., 2010). Current barriers to successful practices in RTW situations include stigma around conditions (Pomaki et al., 2010), as well as organizational culture, which drives current methods, interventions, and processes (WilliamsWhitt et al., 2016).

To best support organizations, The Institute of Work and Health (2007) published seven common principles for successful return to work, while Cancelliere et al., (2016) added number eight:

- 1. The workplace has a strong commitment to health and safety, which is demonstrated by the behaviours of the workplace parties.
- 2. The employer makes an offer of modified work (also known as work accommodation) to injured/ill workers so they can return early and safely to work activities suitable to their abilities.
- 3. RTW planners ensure that the plan supports the returning worker without disadvantaging co-workers and supervisors.
- 4. Supervisors are trained in work disability prevention and included in RTW planning.
- 5. The employer makes early and considerate contact with injured/ill workers.
- 6. Someone has the responsibility to coordinate RTW.
- 7. Employers and health-care providers communicate with each other about the workplace demands as needed, and with the worker's consent.
- 8. The worker has access to multidisciplinary resources (including clinical interventions for the management of pain, disability, depression, and poor expectations for recovery), where necessary, working in combination with the other stakeholders.

WORKPLACE CONSIDERATIONS

While work accommodations are critical to the RTW practice, the way in which they are implemented is even more impactful for their success. Some of these considerations include redistribution or reduction of work demands on worker and co-workers; transitioning to less stressful environments; senior management support; and support of co-workers (Pomaki et al., 2010). Moreover, while some workers may be familiar with their needs, others may struggle

to articulate necessary accommodations. Thus, supports aimed at helping employees with disabilities to identify their needs may increase frequency of accommodation and retention (Gould-Werth et al., 2018).

More and more research has pointed to the need to de-medicalize the RTW process, instead focusing on the organizational abilities of an employer. As a multidimensional process, focus on the psychosocial determinants and macro system variables, through use of generalizable principles and practices are warranted (Gragnano et al., 2018; White et al., 2013; Williams-Whitt et al., 2016). Cancelliere et al. 's (2016) research supports this framing, calling for the provision of multiple resources as needed in the RTW process, inclusive of health and occupational professionals. Williams-Whit et al., (2016) take their call a step further, requesting the creation of positive interventions that help employers to think beyond prevention and repair of illness and injury, by instead focusing on identifying strengths, new opportunities, skills, and abilities that result from experiences with disability (Williams-Whitt et al., 2016).

POLICY

Policies that support the RTW process are needed at both the organizational and governmental levels. Government systems that support workers and their employers can offer "evidence-based services that can prevent significant medical conditions from leading to long-term work disability" (Ben-Shalom, 2016; Stapleton et al., 2016 in Neuhauser et al., 2018;). Moreover, shifting some of the RTW benefits from government to reduce the costs for employers would add economic incentives for the continuing support of workers with disabilities (Ben-Shalom, 2015), especially for employers with fewer resources (Gould-Werth et al., 2018). Ultimately, the systems and policies involved in early RTW need intentional improvements in both system design and implementation to best support a successful RTW (MacEachen et al., 2010).

CONCLUSION

PRACTICE

With a large part of the working-age Canadian population impacted by disabilities, policies and practices that support early intervention for an early RTW are needed. Successful early RTW has many benefits, including improved health outcomes, psychological wellbeing, social inclusion, and financial benefits at all levels. However, there are many challenges that prevent workers from being able to access, and even employers from being able to offer, the needed resources and supports for effective and efficient early intervention. These challenges are compounded by additional systemic and structural factors that perpetuate barriers for equity-deserving groups. Structured and coordinated RTW plans and policies that utilize early intervention offer a wealth of positive outcomes, including improved physical and mental wellbeing for all employees, and thus impacting employer and societal wellbeing. It is a critical tool, that when well supported at all levels, can help to prevent and reduce levels of poverty and infirmity.

REFERENCES

Anand, P., & Ben-Shalom, Y. (2017). *The promise of better economic outcomes for workers with musculoskeletal conditions*. Mathematica Policy Research.

Anderson, E., Hunt, K., Wild, C., Nettleton, S., Ziebland, S., & MacLean, A. (2024). Episodic disability and adjustments for work: The 'rehabilitative work' of returning to employment with Long Covid. *Disability & Society*, 1-23.

Bardos, M., Burak, H., & Ben-Shalom, Y. (2015). Assessing the costs and benefits of return-to work programs. *Washington, DC: Mathematica Policy Research Reports.*

Beemster, T. T., Van Bennekom, C. A. M., Van Velzen, J.M., Frings-Dresen, M. H. W., & Reneman, M. F. (2021). Vocational Rehabilitation with or without Work Module for Patients with Chronic Musculoskeletal Pain and Sick Leave from Work: Longitudinal Impact on Work Participation. *Journal of Occupational Rehabilitation*, *31*(1), 72-83.

Ben-Shalom, Y. (2015). Assessing the Costs and Benefits of Return-to-Work Programs. *Issue Brief Washington, DC: Mathematica Policy Research.*

Ben-Shalom, Y. (2016). Steps states can take to help workers keep their jobs after injury, illness, or disability. *Washington, DC: Mathematica Policy Research.*

Ben-Shalom, Y., Bruns, S., Contreary, K., & Stapleton, D. (2017). Stay-at-work/return-to-work: Key facts, critical information gaps, and current practices and proposals. *Washington, DC: Mathematica Policy Research.*

Ben-Shalom, Y., & Schimmel Hyde, J. (2018). Opportunities for Early Intervention to Avoid Prolonged Work Disability: Introduction to the Special Section. *Journal of Occupational Rehabilitation*, *28*(4), 569-573.

Berecki-Gisolf, J., Clay, F. J., Collie, A., & McClure, R. J. (2012). Predictors of Sustained Return to Work After Work-Related Injury or Disease: Insights from Workers' Compensation Claims Records. *Journal of Occupational Rehabilitation*, 22(3), 283-291.

Canadian Medical Association. (2013). The treating physician's role in helping patients return to work after an illness or injury (update 2013). *Ottawa: Canadian Medical Association.*

Cancelliere, C., Donovan, J., Stochkendahl, M. J., Biscardi, M., Ammendolia, C., Myburgh, C., & Cassidy, J. D. (2016). Factors affecting return to work after injury or illness: Best evidence synthesis of systematic reviews. *Chiropractic & Manual Therapies*, *24*(1), 32.

Christian, J., Wickizer, T., & Burton, A. K. (2016). A Community-Focused Health & Work Service (HWS). In *SSDI solutions: Ideas to strengthen the Social Security Disability Insurance program* (pp. 83-112). Infinity Publishing. <u>https://www.crfb.org/sites/default/fi les/christianwickizerburton.pdf</u>

Contreary, K., Ben-Shalom, Y., & Gifford, B. (2018). Using Predictive Analytics for Early *Insurance program* (pp. 83-112). Infinity Publishing. Identification of Short-Term Disability Claimants Who Exhaust Their Benefits. *Journal of Occupational Rehabilitation, 28*(4), 584-596.

Dol, M., Varatharajan, S., Neiterman, E., McKnight, E., Crouch, M., McDonald, E., Malachowski, C., Dali, N., Giau, E., & MacEachen, E. (2021). Systematic Review of the Impact on Return to Work of Return-to-Work Coordinators. *Journal of Occupational Rehabilitation*, *31*(4), 675-698.

Ekberg, K., Wåhlin, C., Persson, J., Bern fort, L., & Öberg, B. (2015). Early and Late Return to Work After Sick Leave: Predictors in a Cohort of Sick-Listed Individuals with Common Mental Disorders. *Journal of Occupational Rehabilitation*, *25*(3), 627-637.

Ervasti, J., Joensuu, M., Pentti, J., Oksanen, T., Ahola, K., Vahtera, J., Kivimaki, M., & Virtanen, M. (2017). Prognostic factors for return to work after depression-related work disability: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, *95*, 28-36.

Fan, J. K., Macpherson, R. A., Smith, P. M., Harris, M.A., Gignac, M.A. M., & McLeod, C. B. (2021). Age Differences in Work-Disability Duration Across Canada: Examining Variations by Follow-Up Time and Context. *Journal of Occupational Rehabilitation*, *31*(2), 339-349.

Feuerstein, M., Huang, G. D., Ortiz, J. M., Shaw, W. S., Miller, V. I., & Wood, P. M. (2003). Integrated case management for work-related upper-extremity disorders: Impact of patient satisfaction on health and work status. *Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, *45*(8), 803-812.

Franche, R.-L., Baril, R., Shaw, W., Nicholas, M., & Loisel, P. (2005). Workplace-Based Return-to-Work Interventions: Optimizing the Role of Stakeholders in Implementation and Research. *Journal of Occupational Rehabilitation*, *15*(4), 525-542.

Franche, R.-L., Cullen, K., Clarke, J., Irvin, E., Sinclair, S., Frank, J., & The Institute for Work & Health (IWH) Workplace-Based RTW Intervention Literature Review Research Team. (2005). Workplace-Based Return-to-Work Interventions: A Systematic Review of the Quantitative Literature. *Journal of Occupational Rehabilitation*, *15*(4), 607-631.

Franklin, G. M., Wickizer, T. M., Coe, N. B., & Fulton-Kehoe, D. (2015). Workers' compensation: Poor quality health care and the growing disability problem in the United States. *American Journal of Industrial Medicine*, *58*(3), 245-251.

Gewurtz, R. E., Premji, S., & Holness, D. L. (2018). The experiences of workers who do not successfully return to work following a work-related injury. *Work*, *61*(4), 537-549.

Gignac, M. A. M., Bowring, J., Jetha, A., Beaton, D. E., Breslin, F. C., Franche, R.-L., Irvin, E., Macdermid, J.C., Shaw, W. S., Smith, P. M., Thompson, A., Tampa, E., Van Eerd, O., & Saunders, R. (2021). Disclosure, Privacy and Workplace Accommodation of Episodic Disabilities: Organizational Perspectives on Disability Communication-Support Processes to Sustain Employment. *Journal of Occupational Rehabilitation*, *31*(1), 153-165.

Gimm, G., Hoffman, O., & lreys, H. T. (2014). Early interventions to prevent disability for workers with mental health conditions: Impacts from the DMIE. *Disability and Health Journal*, 7(1), 56-63.

Gould-Werth, A., Morrison, K., & Ben-Shalom, Y. (2018). Employers' Perspectives on Accommodating and Retaining Employees with Newly Acquired Disabilities: An Exploratory Study. *Journal of Occupational Rehabilitation*, *28*(4), 611-633.

Government of Canada. (2015). *Annual Report of the Canada Pension Plan 2014-2015*. <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/employment-socialdevelopment/programs/pensions/reports/annual-2015.html</u>

Gragnano, A., Negrini, A., Miglioretti, M., & Corbiere, M. (2018). Common Psychosocial Factors Predicting Return to Work After Common Mental Disorders, Cardiovascular Diseases, and Cancers: A Review of Reviews Supporting a Cross-Disease Approach. *Journal of Occupational Rehabilitation*, 28(2), 215-231.

Gray, S. E., Hassani-Mahmooei, B., Cameron, I. D., Kendall, E., Kenardy, J., & Collie, A. (2018a). Patterns and Predictors of Failed and Sustained Return-to-Work in Transport Injury Insurance Claimants. *Journal of Occupational Rehabilitation, 28*(4), 740-748.

Hoefsmit, N., Houkes, I., & Nijhuis, F. J. N. (2012). Intervention Characteristics that Facilitate Return to Work After Sickness Absence: A Systematic Literature Review. *Journal of Occupational Rehabilitation*, *22*(4), 462-477.

Horppu, R., Martimo, K.-P., Viikari-Juntura , E., Lallukka, T., & MacEachen, E. (2016). Occupational physicians' reasoning about recommending early return to work with work modifications. *PLoS One*, *11*(7), e0158588.

Institute of Work and Health. (2008). *Seven 'principles' for successful return to work*. Institute for Work & Health Toronto.

Lecours, A., Coutu, M.-F., & Durand, M.-J. (2024). Fostering Stay at Work After a Period of Disability: A Scoping Review of Occupational Rehabilitation Strategies to Support Workers in the Adoption of Preventive Behaviours. *Journal of Occupational Rehabilitation*, 34(1), 56-70.

Linton, S. J., & Andersson, T. (2000). *Can chronic disability be prevented?: A randomized trial of a cognitive-behavior intervention and two forms of information for patients with spinal pain.* LWW.

Lippe), K. (2018). Strengths and weaknesses of regulatory systems designed to prevent work disability after injury or illness: An overview of mechanisms in a selection of Canadian compensation systems. *The Science and Politics of Work Disability Prevention*, 50-71.

Liu, S., & Stapleton, D. (2010). How many SSDI beneficiaries leave the rolls for work? More than you might think. *Disability Policy Research Brief*, 10-01.

MacEachen, E. (2019). The science and politics of work disability prevention. Routledge New York.

MacEachen, E., Kosny, A., Ferrier, S., & Chambers, L. (2010). The "Toxic Dose" of System Problems: Why Some Injured Workers Don't Return to Work as Expected. *Journal of Occupational Rehabilitation*, *20*(3), 349-366.

Marras, W. S., Ferguson, S. A., Burr, D., Schabo, P., & Maronitis, A. (2007). Low back pain recurrence in occupational environments. *Spine*, *32*(21), 2387-2397.

Neuhauser, F., Ben-Shalom, Y., & Stapleton, D. (2018). Early Identification of Potential SSDI Entrants in California: The Predictive Value of State Disability Insurance and Workers' Compensation Claims. *Journal of Occupational Rehabilitation*, 28(4), 574-583.

Nuechterlein, K. H., Subotnik, K. L., Ventura, J., Turner, L. R., Gitlin, M. J., Gretchen-Doorly, D., Becker, D.R., Drake, R. E., Wallace, C. J., & Liberman, R. P. (2020). Enhancing return to work or school after a first episode of schizophrenia: The UCLA RCT of Individual Placement and Support and Workplace Fundamentals Module training. *Psychological Medicine*, *50*(1), 20-28.

Oxman, A. D., & Guyatt, G. H. (1991). Validation of an index of the quality of review articles. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, 44(11), 1271-1278.

Petit, G., Scott, C., Gallacher, B., Zwicker, J., & Tedds, L. M. (2020). Less income for more hours of work: Barriers to work for social assistance recipients in BC. *The School of Public Policy Publications*. <u>https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3655192</u>

Pomaki, G., Franche, R.-L., Khushrushahi, N., Murray, E., Lampinen, T., & Mah, P. (2010). *Best practices for return-to-work/stay-at-work interventions for workers with mental health conditions.* Vancouver, BC: Occupational Health and Safety Agency for HealthCare in BC.

Pransky, G., Gatchel, R., Linton, S. J., & Loisel, P. (2005). Improving Return to Work Research. *Journal of Occupational Rehabilitation*, *15*(4), 453-457.

Royal Australasian College of Physicians. (2011). *Australasian faculty of occupational and environmental medicine position statement on realising the health benefits of work.* The Royal Australasian College of Physicians Sydney, Australia.

Saffari, N., Senthanar, S., Koehoorn, M., McGrail, K., & McLeod, C. (2021). Immigrant status, gender and work disability duration: Findings from a linked, retrospective cohort of workers' compensation and immigration data from British Columbia, Canada. *BMJ Open, 11*(12), e050829.

Scheel, I. B., Hagen, K. B., Herrin, J., Carling, C., & Oxman, A. D. (2002). Blind faith? The effects of promoting active sick leave for back pain patients: a cluster-randomized controlled trial. *Spine*, *27*(23), 2734-2740.

Scheel, I. B., Hagen, K. B., Herrin, J., & Oxman, A. D. (2002). A Call for Action: A Randomized Contolled Trial of Two Strategies to implement Active Sick Leave for Patients With Low Back Pain. LWW.

Scheel, I. B., Hagen, K. B., & Oxman, A. D. (2002). Active sick leave for patients with back pain: All the players onside, but still no action. *Spine*, *27*(6), 654-659.

Senthanar, S., Koehoorn, M., Tamburic, L., Premji, S., Büitmann, U., & McLeod, C. B. (2021). Differences in Work Disability Duration for Immigrants and Canadian-Born Workers in British Columbia, Canada. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 18(22), 11794.

Smith, N. (n.d.). *Socioeconomic impact of post COVJD-19 condition: Effects on return to work*. Retrieved May 12, 2024, from <u>https://sporevidencealliance.ca/wpcontent/uploads/2024/02/les</u> <u>11.2 pcc-socioecon-impacts 2024-01-22.pdf</u>

Stapleton, D., Ben-Shalom, Y., & Mann, D. (2016). The employment/eligibility service system: A new gateway for employment supports and social security disability benefits. *SSDI Solutions: Ideas to Strengthen the Social Security Disability Insurance Program*, 53-82.

Statistics Canada. (2020). *How are Canadians with long-term conditions and disabilities impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic?*

Statistics Canada. (2023a, August 30). *The Daily - Labour market characteristics of persons with and without disabilities in 2022: Results from the Labour Force Survey*. <u>https://www 150.statcan.gc.ca/n I /daily-quotidien/230830/dq230830a-eng.htm</u>

Statistics Canada. (2023b, December 1). *The Daily-Canadian Survey on Disability, 2017 to 2022*. https://www.150.statcan.gc.ca/n 1/daily-quotidien/23120 I /dq23 I 20 I b-eng.htm

Street, T. D., & Lacey, S. J. (2015). A systematic review of studies identifying predictors of poor return to work outcomes following workplace injury. *Work*, *51*(2), 373-381.

Tan, H. S. K., Yeo, D. S. C., Giam, J. Y. T., Cheong, F. W. F., & Chan, K. F. (2016). A randomized controlled trial of a Return-to-Work Coordinator model of care in a general hospital to facilitate return to work of injured workers. *Work*, *54*(1), 209-222.

Vick, A. (2013). The embodied experience of episodic disability among women with multiple sclerosis. *Disability & Society, 28*(2), 176-189.

Waddell, G., & Burton, A. K. (2006). Is work good for your health and well-being?

Waddell, G., Burton, A. K., & Kendall, N. A. (2008). *Vocational rehabilitation-what works, for whom, and when? (Report for the Vocational Rehabilitation Task Group)*. TSO.

Wasiak, R., Pransky, G., Verma, S., & Webster, B. (2003). Recurrence of low back pain: Definition-sensitivity analysis using administrative data. *Spine*, *28*(19), 2283-2291.

Wasiak, R., Verma, S., Pransky, G., & Webster, B. (2004). Risk factors for recurrent episodes of care and work disability: Case of low back pain. *Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, 46(1), 68-76.

White, M., Wagner, S., Schultz, I. Z., Murray, E., Bradley, S. M., Hsu, V., McGuire, L., & Schulz, W. (2013). Modifiable workplace risk factors contributing to workplace absence across health conditions: A stakeholder-centered best-evidence synthesis of systematic reviews. *Work*, 45(4), 1-12.

Wickizer, T. M., Franklin, G., Fulton-Kehoe, D., Gluck, J., Mootz, R., Smith-Weller, T., & Plaeger-Brockway, R. (2011). Improving quality, preventing disability and reducing costs in workers' compensation healthcare: A population-based intervention study. *Medical Care*, *49*(12), 1105-1111.

Williams-Whitt, K., Büitmann, U., Amick, B., Munir, F., Tveito, T. H., & Anema, J. R., Hopkinton Conference Working Group on Workplace Disability Prevention. (2016). Workplace Interventions to Prevent Disability from Both the Scientific and Practice Perspectives: A Comparison of Scientific Literature, Grey Literature and Stakeholder Observations. *Journal of Occupational Rehabilitation*, *26*(4), 417-433. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10926-016-9664-z</u>

Young, A. E., Roessler, R. T., Wasiak, R., McPherson, K. M., Van Poppel, M. N. M., & Anema, J. R. (2005). A Developmental Conceptualization of Return to Work. *Journal of Occupational Rehabilitation*, *15*(4), 557-568. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/sl 0926-005-8034-z</u>